
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith 
Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Enquiries to: Peter Thompson
Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 
Date: Monday, 20th March 217

Dear Councillor

Health and Wellbeing Board

You are requested to attend a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be 
held in the Hollingworth Rooms (A&B), Training and Conference Suite, First 
Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale on Tuesday, 28th 
March 2017 commencing at 2.00pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Health and Wellbeing Board Membership 2016/17

Councillor Emsley (Chair), Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed, Councillor Dearnley, 
Councillor Martin, Steve Rumbelow, Gail Hopper, Sheila Downey, Andrea Fallon 
(Rochdale Borough Council),  Dr Chris Duffy (Vice Chair), Simon Wootton 
(Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale NHS Clinical Commissioning Group), Rob 
Bellingham (NHS England), Jane Jackson (HealthWatch Rochdale), Michelle 
Warburton (CVS Rochdale), Jon Aspinall (Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 
Service), Steve Taylor (Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust) and Keith Walker 
(Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust)
  
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


Rochdale Borough Council

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Tuesday, 28th March 2017 at 2.00pm 

Hollingworth Rooms (A&B), Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale.

AGENDA

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

2.  Minutes 3 – 7

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board held 31st January 2017.

3.  Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board 8 - 10

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held 14th March 2017

4.  Rochdale Boroughwide Housing 

Presentation by representatives of Rochdale Boroughwide Housing

5.  CAMHS Local Transformation Plan 

Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group to report. 

6.  Locality Plan 

Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group to report.

7.  Suicide Prevention Strategy 

Director of Public Health to report.

8.  Oral Health Improvement Strategy Study Group 11 - 16

9.  Greater Manchester Civil Resilience Arrangements 2016 17 - 24

10.  Health and Wellbeing Board - Draft Work Programme 2017/18 25 - 28



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 31st January 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Emsley (in the Chair); Councillor Martin, A. Fallon, 
G. Hopper, S. Rumbelow (Rochdale Borough Council); Dr C. Duffy (Heywood, 
Middleton and Rochdale NHS Clinical Commissioning Group), M. Warburton 
(CVS Rochdale).

OFFICERS: W. Meston, R. Bardsley (Public Health and Wellbeing 
Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate) (Rochdale Borough 
Council).
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed and Dearnley, 
S. Downey (Rochdale Borough Council), S. Wootton (Heywood, Middleton 
and Rochdale NHS Clinical Commissioning Group), R. Bellingham (NHS 
England), J. Jackson (HealthWatch Rochdale).

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
32 There were no declarations of interests.

MINUTES
33 DECIDED – that subject to the substitution of references in the minutes 
to the ‘Rochdale Council for Voluntary Services’ by ‘CVS Rochdale’, the 
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 29th 
November 2016 be approved as a correct record.

MINUTES - SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD
34 DECIDED – That the Minutes of the meetings of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held 13th December 2016 and 10th January 2017, be 
noted.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD
35 The Health and Wellbeing Board considered a report of the Assistant Director 
(Legal, Governance and Workforce) which advised the Board of the appointment of 
Denise Dawson to the vacant position for a Lay Member of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group on the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB). The report also 
invited the Board to consider a proposed revision to the membership arrangements 
of the ICB.

A review of the Terms of Reference for the ICB was referred to the ICB, the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the Governing Body of the Clinical Commissioning Group.  
The proposal has been made by the Clinical Commissioning Group and considered 
by the ICB; consent was therefore required from this Board to the change in 
membership arrangements.

The ICB was established and meets in shadow form to develop understandings and 
arrangements for joint commissioning between the Council and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group of health and social care services and to make 
recommendations in this regard to the Council’s Cabinet and to the Clinical 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Commissioning Group Governing Body.  The ICB also meets as a formal Sub-
Committee of this Board to deal with delegated matters relating to the Better Care 
Fund.  The current membership of the ICB is seven members each from the Council 
and the Clinical Commissioning Group.

The agreed terms of reference for the Integrated Commissioning Board provided for 
equality between the two partners in terms of membership, quoracy and voting rights.  
It has been considered desirable to maintain such an approach. In an effort to 
maintain that equality, it was proposed that the Council’s Chief Executive be 
nominated for membership of the ICB, and it was proposed that the matching 
appointment of a second Clinical Commissioning Group Lay Member for membership 
of the Board be made. This proposal was supported by the Integrated 
Commissioning board at a meeting held on 10th January 2017.

DECIDED – That (1) the appointment of Denise Dawson to the ICB be noted;
(2) the Board approves the proposed amendment of the terms of 

reference of the ICB by increasing the membership by the addition of the 
Council’s Chief Executive, Mr Steve Rumbelow and Mr. Paul Rowen as a 
second Lay Member of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

ORAL HEALTH
36 The Health and Wellbeing Board received a presentation from the Oral Health 
Improvement Officer (Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate) which updated and 
informed Members on oral health outcomes for children and advised of initiatives that 
the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and Greater Manchester 
Children’s Partnerships were undertaking especially with regard to the completion of 
a feasibility study for fluoride schemes across Greater Manchester including 
fluoridation of the domestic water supply.

Members of the board were advised on and requested to consider alternative fluoride 
schemes with cited examples from other Local Authorities, including the West 
Midlands, which had a similar socio-economic, cultural and demographic profile to 
Greater Manchester but had vastly superior levels of oral health due mainly to the 
fact that the domestic water supply was fluoridated. Walsall MBC was a statistical 
neighbour’ of Rochdale Borough Council but their residents enjoyed higher levels of 
oral health.

In discussing the presentation the Board requested that actions to address oral 
health outcomes for children continue to be monitored mainly by the Children and 
Young People’s Partnership, the Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People and 
the Portfolio Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing. The Board also asked that the 
Council proposes the commissioning by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
of a feasibility study for a Greater Manchester wide approach to fluoride schemes 
including the fluoridation of water, supporting an earlier Cabinet recommendation, in 
this regard. It was stressed that placing fluoride in the water supply would be a 
population approach to Dental caries that would not rely on individual behaviour 
change. It was a complex scheme that would be difficult to progress at a local level 
requiring collaboration across Greater Manchester and beyond.

DECIDED – That (1) the presentation be noted and welcomed;
(2) the Health and Wellbeing Board supports feasibility work around the 

promotion of fluoride in Greater Manchester’s domestic water supply and 
support for this initiative be sought from Leaders, Chief Executive’s and 

Page 4



Directors of Public health from all other Councils who constitute the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING ALLIANCE
37 Michelle Warburton updated the Health and Wellbeing Board with regard to 
the progress towards the implementation of the Voluntary Sector Health and 
Wellbeing Alliance Model.  The purpose of the Model was to strengthen partnership 
working within the voluntary, community, faith and not for profit social enterprise 
sector, and between the sector and public bodies. 

This model was developed in order to create a single voluntary sector health and 
wellbeing alliance made up of thematic partnerships of voluntary, community, faith 
and not for profit social enterprise organisations working collectively to improve 
health and wellbeing. 

Greater Manchester devolution and Locality Plans required a model for the 
engagement of the Voluntary Sector to engage with the Plan. The Voluntary Sector 
Health and Wellbeing Alliance model was developed as a result of consultation with 
the wider sector in order to link to public service reform and locality plan priorities and 
had taken into consideration the limited resources available from public bodies and 
was intended to be inclusive for all voluntary, community, faith and not for profit 
social enterprise sector organisations.

The Board was informed that the Health and Wellbeing Alliance leadership group is 
to be made up of the lead organisation representatives from each of the thematic 
partnerships and is intended to include other relevant stakeholders such as 
HealthWatch Rochdale, Link4Life, CVS Rochdale, Big Life Group and Rochdale 
Boroughwide Housing for example and would lead on behalf of the voluntary sector 
on health and wellbeing within the Borough, aiming to improve partnership working 
within the sector, and between the sector and public bodies in particular to work in 
partnership to:-
• Provide services that empower local residents to help themselves
• Encourage greater independence and healthy lifestyles
• Make access to services provided by not for profit organisations easier to 
access.

The Board offered their thanks to Michelle Warburton and her team at CVS Rochdale 
for their continued work to ensure that the Voluntary Sector Health and Wellbeing 
Alliance Model was developed effectively.

DECIDED – That the presentation be noted and welcomed.

HEALTH PROTECTION UPDATE
38 The Health and Wellbeing Board received a report from the Rochdale 
Borough Health Protection Working Group regarding working arrangements, 
performance and action that was being taken to protect the health of residents in 
2016. The report focused on updating on working arrangements and immunisation 
and screening.

The Board was advised that health protection sought to prevent or reduce harm 
caused by, but not confined to, communicable diseases, to ensure effective infection 
prevention and control, to minimise health impacts from environmental, chemical and 
radiation hazards and extreme weather events. The Board was also informed of the 
excellent screening and immunisation programmes that existed to prevent or to 

Page 5



detect diseases and to ensure that the public’s health is protected in the event of an 
emergency situation.

The report assured Members on major programmes such as the national 
immunisation and screening programmes, the provision of health services to 
diagnose and treat infectious diseases and to ensure that there existed a robust 
approach to planning, surveillance and response to incidents and outbreaks.

There was an active Greater Manchester Health protection work programme that 
dealt with a wide range of issues that supported Greater Manchester and also local 
responses on health protection. At a local level Rochdale Borough had an 
established Health Protection Working Group which provided mechanisms for 
warning and informing on local health protection issues within the Borough. The 
Group is chaired by Rochdale’s Consultant in Public Health and had membership 
from Public Health England, NHS England, RBC Public protection, AGMA Resilience 
service, Heywood Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (HMR 
CCG) and the Cabinet Portfolio holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing.

The Board in considering the report noted the increased levels of bowel cancer 
screening, the figures for late HIV diagnoses and the alarmingly high percentage 
(50%) for missed appointments across the NHS footprint. The Board asked that 
update reports on this matter be presented top future meetings approximately every 
six months.

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) future reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board on Health 

Protection measures be submitted approximately every six months.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 
2017/18
39 The Director of Public Health submitted a draft work programme for future 
meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board into 2017/18. The Director was looking 
to have ‘themed’ meetings in the future that would be guided and accompanied by 
presentations that would be designed to encourage discussion and debate. It was 
also suggested that the Health and Wellbeing Board have a separate development 
session, early in the 2017/18 Municipal Year which would inform the Board’s Work 
Programme.

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the Health and Wellbeing Board resolves to hold an informal 

Development Session at a date and time to be determined, early in 2017/18, for 
the purpose of developing its Work Programme.

ROCHDALE BOROUGH SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL 
REPORT
40 The Board considered the 2015/2016 Annual Report from the Rochdale 
Borough Safeguarding Adults Board. 

DECIDED – that the 2015/2016 Annual Report from the Rochdale Borough 
Safeguarding Adults Board be noted.

ROCHDALE BOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL 
REPORT

Page 6



41 The Board considered the 2015/2016 Annual Report from the Rochdale 
Borough Safeguarding Children Board. 

DECIDED – that the 2015/2016 Annual Report from the Rochdale Borough 
Safeguarding Children Board be noted.

Page 7



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 14 March 2017

PRESENT:     RBC - Councillor Janet Emsley (Portfolio Holder for Culture, 
Health and Wellbeing) (in the Chair), Sheila Downey (Director of Adult Care), 
Pauline Kane (Director of Resources) and Councillor Donna Martin (Portfolio 
Holder for Children's Services); HMR CCG - Dr Bodrul Alam (Clinical Lead), 
Denise Dawson (Lay Member), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn 
Hampson (Clinical Lead) 

OFFICERS:  Sally McIvor (Joint Director – Integrated Commissioning), David 
Wilcock (RBC Assistant Director (Legal, Governance and Workforce)), Karen 
Kenton (RBC Children’s Services Directorate) and Mark Hardman (RBC 
Resources Directorate)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE:  RBC - Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio 
Holder for Adult Services), Andrea Fallon (Director of Public Health and 
Wellbeing), Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services) and Steve 
Rumbelow (Chief Executive); HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair), Ian 
Mello (Director of Commissioning and Provider Management) and Simon 
Wootton (Chief Officer);

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
39 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
40 Further to Minute 38(2) of the submitted minutes of the meeting of the 
Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board held on 10th January 2017 it was noted 
that options for further provision of ‘Changing Places’ specialist toileting/changing 
facilities from future years Disabled Facilities Grant would be brought forward as 
resources permitted.

DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 10th January 2017 be approved as a correct 
record. 

BUSINESS PROGRAMMING
41 The Board considered a report presenting a schedule of business for the 
Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board arising from planned or routine scheduled 
business and issues arising from considerations at previous meetings of the Board.  

The Director of Adult Care reported further to the following matters listed at 
paragraph 4.2 to the submitted report – 
(i) Carers’ Commissioning – the identified work had been overtaken by a 

Transformation Bid proposal to commission a night support service to 
provide personal care out of hours to support the discharge to assess 
model. To avoid duplication it was now proposed to use the £90k Better 
Care Fund funding to commission a night support service that covers 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



personal care and carer support with the additional funding from the 
transformation bid if this is successful. 

(ii) Integrated Community Equipment Store – a sub-clause had been 
included into the tender to leave open an option for possible inclusion of 
the provision of minor adaptations.

(iii) Integrated Community Equipment Store - once the contract is awarded 
and the full year budget agreed, delegation of the budget for the adults’ 
specialist health equipment could then be considered as a variation to 
the Integrated Neighbourhood Team Contract.

DECIDED – That the report be noted.
Eligible for call-in:  No

BETTER CARE FUND 2016/17 - THIRD QUARTER BUDGET MONITORING 
REPORT
42 The Board gave consideration to a report of the Director of Resources 
providing an update on the projected position of the Better Care Fund (BCF) for the 
financial year 2016/17 as at December period end.

The recommendations were presented as regular monitoring of the BCF budget is a 
requirement of the Section 75 agreement that was agreed at the meeting of the 
Board held in June 2016.  The monitoring would form the basis of the financial 
information to be submitted to NHS England as part of the regulatory returns 
required. 

Alternatives considered:  None.

DECIDED – That (1) the latest projected position for the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
in 2016/17, which had been included in the third quarter return made to NHS 
England on 3rd March 2017, be noted;

(2) any BCF underspend in 2016/17 be transferred to the VAT provision 
against any possible liability in future years, and should this provision be 
found not to be required it be returned into the BCF as a future one-off funding.
Eligible for call-in: No

BETTER CARE FUND 2016/17 - THIRD QUARTER PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE
43 The Board considered a report of the Director of Adult Care providing an 
update on performance against the Better Care Fund (BCF) indicator set for Quarter 
3 2016/17.  Appended to the report was the Quarter 3 national BCF return as 
reviewed and signed off by the Chair of the Integrated Commissioning Board and the 
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

DECIDED – That the report be noted.
Eligible for call-in:  No

DELAYED TRANSFER OF CARE
44 The Board considered a report of the Director of Adult Care Services 
providing a ‘deep dive’ report into the definition and reporting of the national 
performance metric ‘Delayed Transfer of Care’ (DTOC) and an update on the overall 
performance for Rochdale up until the end of December 2016.

Page 9



Effective performance monitoring and management of the DTOC metric is essential 
to ensure that both the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group achieve the 
DTOC targets set out in the Better Care Fund plan for 2016/17.

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) it be noted that the Rochdale locality has the best DTOC performance 

in Greater Manchester and the North West local authorities’ family group as set 
out in the North West ADASS/AQUA Benchmarking Report. 
Eligible for call-in:  No

INTEGRATED CARE RECORD PORTAL
45 The Board considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer providing an 
update on the progress of the jointly commissioned and developed Integrated Care 
Record Portal using the Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG) provided by 
Healthcare Gateway.

Further to the submitted report and a request to go live with 50% of GP practices 
signed, as opposed to the previous 70% agreed, the Board was advised that GPs 
had been given assurance following an explicit consent approval from LMC.  The 
Board was advised that this would give confidence for GP sign-up and requested a 
commencement by the end of the month on the presumption that the required sign-
up would be achieved.

DECIDED - That (1) the Board continues its support of the ongoing work on 
gaining GP signatures to facilitate technical go live;

(2) support of the promotion of the ShareForYou Integrated Care Record 
across Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale be continued; 

(3) the creation and sharing of a Social Care dataset across Heywood, 
Middleton & Rochdale and North East Sector organisations using Healthcare 
Gateway’s Medical Interoperability Gateway

(4) the Board support and agree the commencement of the ShareForYou 
Integrated Care Record by the end of March 2017 on the presumption that the 
required sign-up would be achieved.
Eligible for call-in: No

Page 10



Title: Oral Health Improvement Strategy Study 
Group

Status: For Publication

Report to: Health, Schools and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee

Cabinet Member: Portfolio Holder for Public 
Health and Wellbeing - Councillor Janet Emsley 

Report of: Oral Health Improvement Strategy 
Scrutiny Study Group

Report Author: Peter Thompson

Date:   21st February 2017

Author Tel:     01706 924715  

Author Email:    peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk  Key Decision: No

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To present the report of the Oral Health Improvement Strategy Group and to 

recommend its submission to the Cabinet.

2. Recommendations

It is recommended that the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
approve the following recommendations and where appropriate refer them to the Cabinet for 
their approval and adoption:-

2.1 The Council be recommended to approve and adopt the Oral Health Strategy, 
commissioned by Public Health England and entitled “Local Authorities improving oral 
health: commissioning better oral health for children and young people”; 

2.2t that work by the Oral Health Promotion Officer, with regard to the suitability and 
appropriateness of oral health initiatives that local Mosques were undertaking, 
particularly those Mosques that are located in the Milkstone and Deeplish and Central 
Rochdale Wards of the Borough be noted; 

2.3 That elected Members of Rochdale Borough Council be encouraged to continue to 
attend meetings of the Greater Manchester Oral Health Improvement Collaborative 
Commissioners meeting, following Councillor Sullivan’s example in this regard;

2.4 The Director of Children’s Services be requested to continue to encourage relevant 
staff to undertake available training in oral health care;

2.5 The Council’s Director of Public Health and the Portfolio Holder for Public Health and 
Wellbeing be requested to continue to lobby to have prominence of oral health within 
the Borough’s Locality Plan;

Page 11

Agenda Item 8

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


2.6 The results and outcomes of the national survey into the oral health of five year old 
children, published (by Public Health England) in May 2016, be noted;

2.7 The Oral Health Promotions Officer, in consultation with appropriate external providers 
continue to liaise with local General Dental Practices to explain the various tooth 
brushing programmes that are available for pupils, and that the Oral Health 
Promotions Officer also be requested to continue to liaise with representatives of 
appropriate providers to examine ways of increasing the number of schools in the 
Borough that are engaged in Tooth Brushing Programmes and that staff in the 
Council’s Public Health Directorate be requested to undertake ‘mapping’ exercises to 
identify the locations of dental practices in the Borough that are engaged in the various 
tooth brushing programmes;

2.8 The Director of Children’s Services be requested to continue with the provision of 
suitable training and guidance for those with guardianship responsibilities for ‘looked 
after children’, foster carers and prospective adoptive parents in terms of oral hygiene 
and food hygiene, and in this regard the Council’s Public Health Service be requested 
to review the current policies of the Council;

2.9 The Public Health Directorate continue to examine the Borough’s obesity figures (as 
an indicator of likely sugar intake and potential dental caries) for Primary schools 
falling within the existing secondary school hot food takeaway ‘exclusion zones and 
the Public Health Directorate’s Licencing team continue to ‘map out’ routes of mobile 
food vendors (in particular ice cream vans), with a view to considering restrictions of 
trade within a given perimeter of primary schools, further noting that a report will be 
submitted to Planning and Licensing Committee in due course requesting that the 
Council review its policies regarding the ice cream vans trading adjacent to schools in 
the Borough;

2.10 The Public Health Service be recommended to continue to work with colleagues within 
Oldham Council’s Public Health Service to deliver oral health improvement packs on 
Post-natal wards at Oldham Hospital via midwives in the Maternity Unit, bearing in 
mind that Oldham and North Manchester General Hospital, now provide maternity 
facilities for this  Borough’s women;

2.11 The Study Group fully acknowledges the long term benefits of fluoridation of the 
domestic water supply which would be wide ranging and long lasting, and urges the 
cabinet and the Council to concur and to push for both a North West and a Greater 
Manchester wide approach in this regard.   

 

3. Background information

3.1 On 23rd September 2015, the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee established a Scrutiny Study Group to attempt to gain an understanding of 
the prevalence and severity of dental decay amongst the Borough’s residents, 
especially amongst five year old children and to examine recommended actions for 
inclusion in the local Oral Health Improvement Strategy 2016 - 2020 to rectify the 
current situation. The Study was therefore closely linked to the development of the 
Borough’s Oral Health Improvement Strategy and was concerned with improving 
health outcomes for service users in the Rochdale Borough which should improve 
healthy life and wellbeing outcomes. As a consequence, this directly linked into the 
‘People’, ‘Place’ and ‘Prosperity’ corporate priorities of the Council. Much of the work 
will be absorbed into the Council’s Obesity Action Plan which is co-ordinated by the 
Public Health Directorate and has an elected member input via the Portfolio Holder for 
Public health and Wellbeing.

Page 12



3.2       The Study Group’s membership comprised Councillors Sullivan (Chair), Ali Ahmed, 
Sultan Ali, Cecile Biant, O’Neill and Zaheer. 

3.3 The Study Group was concerned to work collaboratively with a range of officers and 
health professionals to raise awareness and understanding of evidence based Oral 
Health Improvement recommendations by Greater Manchester Public Health England 
and Public Health England. The Study Group Members were asked to focus on good 
practice, evidence based provision and filling gaps in service and delivery, improving 
the Oral Health of the residents across the Borough of Rochdale.  

3.4 The Study Group was also asked to review performance of the Oral Health 
Improvement Plan in relation to: reductions in decayed missing and filled teeth (dmft); 
the oral health engagement and training for the wider professional workforce; targeted 
community-based fluoride programs; supervised tooth brushing in targeted childhood 
settings; and healthy food and drink policies in childhood settings.

3.4 The Study Group examined established tooth brushing programmes that have had a 
beneficial effect starting via the community midwife and which continue until a child 
reaches the age of four and in some targeted areas, until the age of 7 years of age. In 
this regard the Study Group welcomed the Deputy Head Teacher of St. Mary’s Primary 
School, Balderstone, Rochdale to address Members on the teeth brushing programme 
that was in existence at her school. The teeth brushing programme proved to be a big 
success. All 30 children in the Year 6 Group had brushed their teeth immediately after 
lunch as a pilot project and the programme was subsequently rolled out to the school’s 
other year groups, so that the 207 pupils in the school were now engaged in the 
programme. It was found that the children themselves really enjoyed the experience 
and most parents were supportive too. The success of the pilot project had been rolled 
out for other schools to participate in including Belfield Primary School in Rochdale. 
Representatives of various schools across the Borough had since visited St. Mary’s to 
view the programme in action. In addition, as part of a health promotion scheme the 
school’s children participated in the ‘mile a day’ programme whereby children walk one 
mile a day to boost fitness and improve attitudes to and awareness of the importance 
of physical fitness and, in the case of St. Mary’s the ‘mile a day’ consisted of children 
walking 21 times around the perimeter of the school’s playground.  

3.5 In terms of receiving external speakers who could lend particular expertise, meetings 
have been attended by the following: Gill Davis (Public Health England – who has 
attended Council meetings in the past relating to oral health presentations), Dr Khalid 
Mushtaq – a locally based dental practitioner who is the lead for the Local Dental 
Committee and Andrew Forest of the Big Life Group - which had been commissioned 
to provide the oral health services and training in the Borough.

3.6 The Study Group met on eight occasions in total and considered numerous issues and 
evidence, on which the Members have been fully engaged.

3.7 The following issues have so far been dealt with by the Study Group:

a. Water fluoridation;
b. Borough Locality Plan (a ‘quick win’ for the Study group was the addition of oral 

health care in the Locality Plan as a direct result of Member’s intervention);
c. Greater Manchester Devolution Proposals (insofar as it affects health and social 

care) including the fluoridation of domestic water supplies;
d. Oral Health programmes for Looked After Children;
e. Healthy eating;
f. Tooth brushing – family fluoride toothpaste schemes;

Page 13



g. Buddy Scheme – care pathway between Primary Schools and Dental 
Practitioners; and

h. The location of fast food outlets close to Primary Schools;
i. The location of ice cream vans close to schools;
j. Obesity and Oral Health Delivery Plan 2016 – 2018.

3.8 The Chair of the Study Group, Councillor Sullivan, has attended meetings of the 
Greater Manchester Public Health England Collaborative Commissioning Oral Health 
Improvement Group, a move that was welcomed as it makes Rochdale the first 
Greater Manchester Authority to have Member level representation on this body and in 
this regard, it was hoped that other local authorities would send elected 
representatives in future.

3.9 The following issues were considered by the Study Group:

a. Looked After Children - including the engagement with providers and the 
provision of specialised training sessions for care workers and social care staff in 
collaboration with ‘Living Well’.

b. Policy - the Study Group undertook an examination of the Oral Health 
Improvement Strategy 2016 -2020 and recommended its formal approval and 
adoption by the Council. 

 
c. Tooth Brushing in Schools – a programme was already established and was 

being implemented on behalf of the Council by ‘Living Well’. In 2015/16, it was 
reported that there has been an increase of 20% in participants of the scheme. 
The Big Life Group, in consultation with the Council’s Public Health Directorate 
and Healthy Schools Team were currently compiling data and looking for ways to 
further increase delivery across targeted areas - an example being the ‘Healthy 
Schools’ programme which the Council is working closely with St Marys Primary 
School, Balderstone, Rochdale  included an action plan with regard to enhanced 
status. This example was a direct result of work identified via the Study Group. 
The Council is also working on a baseline questionnaire and gathering evidence 
of learning with School Oral Health Improvement schemes and Healthy Schools, 
and is delivering appropriate training on the ‘Dental Buddy Resource Box’, there 
is also engagement with the promotion of a poster competition for ‘smile week’ 
and the use of ‘Change 4 Life sugar swap tools’.  The Council’s Oral Health 
Improvement Officer attended the ‘Dragons Den’ Public Health England 
Research seminars, to look at considerations in regard to the study of the 
children on the schemes as per previous requests from Councillors.

d. Buddy Scheme – the aim of this initiative was to link local dentists with nearby 
schools thereby creating visible pathways between the schools and a dentist. 
The longer term aims of the scheme are to help the child to create confidence 
around dental surgery visits, to offer help/assistance to parents and carers via 
specialised preventative advice and fluoride varnish applications in the dental 
practice and promote tooth brushing. In this regard, the work of Dr Khalid 
Mushtaq a local lead on the information for the possibility of establishing a Buddy 
Scheme was invaluable and welcomed. It was noted that Public Health England, 
already had in place two pilot projects in Greater Manchester in Oldham and 
Bolton Boroughs. The Oral Health Officer had attended a meeting with service 
commissioners and Public Health England in regard to the scheme in Oldham 
and the possibility of a joint venture in the future. It should be noted, that there 
were concerns from Public Health England that a locally based scheme may 
impinge on wider work that Public Health England were already carrying out and 

Page 14



advised that Rochdale wait for the outcome of their pilot projects in Oldham and 
Bolton. 

e. Ice Cream Vans/Takeaways – there were issues around ice cream vans being 
parked outside schools (sometimes on school premises) and in this regard, it is 
linked to issues that members have already considered in relation to fast food 
outlets/takeaways. Rochdale Borough Council have regulations in place, that 
prohibit planning consent for fast food outlets/takeaways within a 400 metre 
radius of secondary schools and the Study Group is currently examining, if this 
can be extended to primary schools. Officers in the Public Health Directorate are 
leading on this work for the planning regulations to be extended to those primary 
schools that may be influenced by restricted area around secondary schools. 
Further work is ongoing that supports Public Health and Healthy Schools on 
obesity figures and also maps for ‘catchment’ areas. 

f. At the Study Group’s meeting in September the Group received a presentation 
from the Council’s licensing manager, who addressed Members about licensing 
issues in particular about issues appertaining to ice cream vans that were 
parking for trade close to the entrance to schools. The licensing team had 
contacted schools across the Borough about the operation of ice cream vendors 
and a number had responded to say that such vendors did indeed operate 
adjacent to their schools (such as Woodlands, Alkrington, Meanwood and All 
Soul’s primary schools). It was reported that there was a particular problem 
relating to ice cream vendors operating in the area adjacent to Middleton 
Technology (High) School. Members requested that, if at all possible, a policy be 
formulated regarding the operation of ice cream vendors adjacent to school 
premises. There currently exists a restricted sales zone, regarding the operation 
of ice cream vans in the Borough’s town centre and Hollingworth Lake in 
Littleborough. Members did though note the Council’s current policy with regard 
to fast food outlets not being permitted to operate within a 400 metre radius of a 
secondary school in the Borough. The Study Group noted that a report to the 
Council’s Planning and Licensing Committee would be presented in due course 
regarding this matter.

g. Water Fluoridation – the Study Group on numerous occasions discussed the 
issue of adding fluoride to the domestic water supply, a situation that currently 
appertains in the West Midlands region. However there was a realisation that this 
was something beyond the reach of the Study Group in itself and perhaps even 
the Council. Various studies commissioned over a number of year consistently 
find lower rates of tooth decay among children who live in areas where the 
domestic water supply is fluoridated rather than those children from non-
fluoridated areas. Such an initiative would require consultations with both the 
general public and neighbouring authorities. A community water fluoridation 
toolkit for local authorities has been published to help and inform local 
authorities. Water fluoridation is expressly permitted in legislation by Parliament, 
with decisions made at a local level. The Health and Social Care Act 2012, by 
amending the Water Industry Act 1991, returned responsibility for those 
decisions to local authorities with Public Health responsibilities and whilst the 
long term benefits would be wide ranging and long lasting, the short term 
financial outlay may be too prohibitive.   

h. Maternity Interventions –Public Health is working closely with colleagues in 
Oldham Council’s Public Health to deliver oral health improvement packs on 
post-natal wards at Oldham Hospital via midwives in the Maternity Unit, bearing 
in mind that Oldham and North Manchester General Hospital now provides 
maternity facilities for the Rochdale Borough’s women. In 2014, there were (for 

Page 15



Rochdale residents), 1928 live births at Royal Oldham Hospital out of 2845 in 
total (67.8%).

i. Engagement with LDC and Dental Practitioners - Dr Mushtaq, the Chair of the 
LDC, is engaging with the study group and is the lead General Dental 
Practitioner for the Buddy scheme. Dr Mushtaq, is currently working and advising 
on engagement with local dental practitioners. 

j. The draft Obesity and Oral Health Delivery Plan 2016 – 2018 was considered by 
Members. It was commented that nationally the levels of obesity (in children and 
adults) was higher in areas that experienced high levels of deprivation whereas 
in Rochdale the obesity levels (for children and adults) were high across all parts 
of the Borough, including the more affluent and less socially deprived areas. The 
figures though did not highlight the wide variation by geographical areas of the 
Borough or the differences between the Borough’s various ethnic and minority 
groups

4. Alternatives considered

4.1 The Study Group considered a range of alternatives before arriving at their 
recommendations above (please see the minutes of the various meetings of the Study 
Group, attached at the appendices, for more information).

5. Financial Implications

5.1 None

6. Legal Implications

6.1 None

7. Corporate Priorities

7.1 The Study directly impacts on the ‘People’, ‘Place’ and ‘Prosperity’ corporate priorities 
of the Council and Members gave appropriate regard to these priorities during their 
considerations.

8. Equalities Impacts - there are no significant workforce equality issues or 
equality/community issues arising from this report.

Page 16



 

 1 

 
 

        Item No. 11(i)  
 

GM POLICE AND CRIME STEERING GROUP 
 
Subject:  Overview of Greater Manchester’s civil resilience 

arrangements, 2016 
 
Report of:  Mike Owen, Chief Executive for Bury Council and 

lead GM Chief Executive for Civil Contingencies  
 
Date:   27th January 2017 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The purpose of this paper is to outline the learning identified from major 
incidents in Greater Manchester during 2016 together with highlighting 
significant developments in civil resilience and the management of 
emergencies. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Police and Crime Steering Group are recommended to note: 
 

1. the lessons identified in relation to the response to a range of incidents  
2. the opportunities presented by membership of 100 Resilient Cities 

network  
3. the wider contribution resilience can make to urban growth, economic 

investment and community wellbeing 
 
PRIORITY 
 
N/A 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Mike Owen 
Chief Executive for Bury Council and Lead GM Chief Executive for Civil 
Contingencies 
0161 253 5102 
 
Contact for further information: 
Kathy Oldham 
Head of Civil Contingencies & Resilience Unit, AGMA 
0161 234 5552 

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



 

 2 

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 For the last five years the AGMA Civil Contingencies and Resilience 

Unit (CCRU)) has been leading civil resilience work in Greater 
Manchester under the direction of the AGMA lead Chief Executive and 
lead Leader. The unit continues to work with local authorities to deliver 
their statutory responsibilities for emergency planning and to provide 
expert advice when responding to emergencies, in addition to shaping 
the city region’s strategic approach to resilience.  It also has a pivotal 
role in driving forward the work of the Greater Manchester Resilience 
Forum, the multi-agency partnership chaired by the Deputy County Fire 
Officer which has the statutory responsibility to coordinate civil 
resilience activity across the conurbation.  

 
1.2 During 2016 GM’s agencies responded to a wide range of sudden 

impact major incidents together with working in partnership to plan and 
facilitate a considerable number of pre-planned events and short notice 
gatherings and demonstrations.  

 
1.3 2016 also saw GM selected, through a highly competitive global 

process, to become a member of the Rockefeller Foundation’s 100 
Resilient Cities programme. 

  
2.0 Overview of Emergency Response to Civil Emergencies 
 
2.1 As a core service priority, the CCRU has provided 24/7/365 expertise 

to local authorities responding to a wide range of incidents, including 
supporting multi-agency command and control structures and 
facilitating integrated emergency management. Some of the larger 
incidents include: 

 
Incident Date 
Recovery from large Boxing Day floods (2,250 flooded 
properties) 

January 16 - 
ongoing 

Junior doctor strikes (31 days of proposed strike action) January – April 16 
Stockport floods (86 residential properties and 3 businesses 
affected) 

8, 9, 11 & 16 June 
16 

Carrington fire (8 pump fire at a paper mill) 23 June 16 
Fatal explosion, Curzon, Tameside  9 August 16 
Severe weather and subsequent flooding (Stockport ) (22 
residential properties and 26 businesses affected) 

13 September 16 

Modern slavery incident, Trafford (32 potential victims) 18 November 16 
Flash flooding, Marple, Stockport (7 properties affected) 21 November 16 
Flooding across Greater Manchester (6 districts, 
approximately 160 properties affected) 

28 November 16 

Manchester City centre water outage 28 November 16 
Influenza outbreak with school closures, Stockport 5–11 December 

16 
Water contamination, Tameside and Oldham (17,000 
properties affected) 

11 December 16 

Page 18



 

 3 

Maple Mill fire, Oldham (Approximately 100 residents 
evacuated) 

15 December 16 

 
2.2 GM’s specialist multi-agency command structures, together with the 

capability to rapidly develop and disseminate a shared situation 
awareness to inform effective decision making, have also supported 
the management of pre-planned and short notice events. Significant 
operations have included:  

 
Event 
Local Council Elections and Salford Mayoral Election 
Saddleworth Band Contest, Oldham 
Parklife 2016, Manchester/Bury 
Stone Roses concerts, Manchester 
EU Referendum 
Somme Commemoration, Manchester 
Commemoration event for PC’s Nicola Hughes and Fiona Bone, Tameside 
Manchester Pride 
Victoria Cross Commemoration, Manchester 
Olympic Hero’s Parade, Manchester 
6 car cruise events 
2 extreme right wing demonstrations 
2 Operation Challenger weeks, tackling modern slavery (GM wide) 
5 higher risk sporting events 
2 significant demonstrations (homelessness and Brexit) 
 
2.3 Significant emergencies and incidents have all been reviewed through 

a  multi-agency debrief process in line with national College of Policing 
Authorised Professional Practice to identify good practice and learning 
to inform future plans and capability development. 

 
3.0 Flooding During 2016 
 
3.1 On Boxing Day 2015 Greater Manchester experienced severe rainfall 

from Storm Eva that resulted in significant flooding in a number of 
districts. A report providing an overview of the flooding and its impacts 
was presented to this meeting in January 2016. However, during the 
subsequent twelve months there have been a number of additional 
flooding incidents including three separate flooding incidents in 
Stockport, together with flooding in 6 other districts during November.  

 
3.2 The different flooding events, experienced in a short time period, have 

illustrated the different levels of national support that may or may not 
be available and the issues this causes local communities. The Boxing 
Day floods in 2015 attracted significant government support which was 
made available through the Communities and Business Recovery 
Schemes. In subsequent flooding events the Government clearly 
indicated that provision of financial support to affected homes and 

Page 19



 

 4 

businesses in more localised flooding incidents rests with local 
authorities stating:  

 
 "Government recognises the impact the recent flooding incidents have 

had on communities, householders and businesses.  With localised 
flooding incidents like these we would expect LAs to have well 
established contingency arrangements in place and therefore be able 
to respond and support their local communities from within their 
existing budgets." 

 
3.3 We have written to the chair of the LGA to express concern about how 

the current national policy in relation to support packages for flooded 
communities is resulting in: 

 
• Different levels of support for different communities despite common 

impacts of flooding depending upon the availability of 
Government/local funding 

• Community awareness of differential treatment by public authorities 

• A nationally determined ‘good practice’ benchmark that local councils 
are expected to fund from local budgets in local events  

• A lack of transparency around the trigger level at which a national 
incident is declared and national support made available to affected 
communities  

3.4 The Government has recently published the National Flood Resilience 
Review which reviews how flood risk is assessed given the context of 
climate change, examines key issues around mapping and modelling 
of potential flood areas, assesses impacts on critical local infrastructure 
and explores implications for emergency response.  In addition, the 
National Planning Policy Framework has been updated in relation to 
climate change with models now looking at a potential 70% increase in 
peak river flows for the North West.  Although the extent of the extreme 
flood outline in GM is unaffected, flood waters are expected to deepen 
overtime. Work will be ongoing in 2017 to assess the revised models 
and risk analyses in order to inform planning, exercising and capability 
development for future incidents. 

 
4.0 Community Resilience 
 
4.1 The importance of community resilience has long been recognised as 

an essential component in ensuring communities are able to recover 
incidents. In GM this has been highlighted by the recent flooding. A 
number of initiatives are ongoing to work with communities and GM 
has successfully established a partnership with Save the Children to 
undertake the ‘Take Care’ project. This EU funded project aims to 
provide space for children to be at the centre of their own resilience-
building. Two schools are engaged in the project, one from Salford and 
one from Rochdale.  

Page 20



 

 5 

 
5.0 Promoting Business Resilience 
 
5.1 Recognising the need to further support business resilience in the face 

of climate change and potential weather-related incidents, a project has 
been initiated with CLASP (a not-for-profit service that supports 
organisations to deal with the challenges of environmental resilience) 
to provide support to small and medium sized businesses who have 
predominately been impacted by recent flood events.  This work will 
develop a short guide to climate resilience called ‘Weathering the 
Storm’ and will provide resources and tools to increase business 
resilience. 

 
6.0 Situational Awareness 
 
6.1 The importance of joint situational awareness across all agencies 

engaged in responding to an incident is a core requirement for effective 
response and has been delivered effectively in GM in recent years 
through multi-agency co-location of incident command structures in 
GMP’s force command module. However, the Boxing Day floods of 
2015 demonstrated an urgent need to develop shared situational 
awareness between local areas and the Cabinet Office Briefing 
Room/Ministerial Recovery Group during both the response and 
recovery phases. Cabinet Office and DCLG have therefore promoted 
the development and use of a web-based, secure, information sharing 
platform, ‘Resilience Direct’.  

 
6.2 Resilience Direct enables emergency responders to work 

collaboratively and share information securely between organisations 
and the Government. Following a comprehensive trial of the system 
during a complex and challenging exercise in the summer, GM has 
successfully used the system during two incidents in December. 
Continued use of the system is a national priority and GM’s use of the 
platform has enabled national teams to rehearse capacities for 
dynamic mapping in incidents. 

 
6.3 During 2017 work to further embed use of the system will include 
 collaboration with: 
 

• Ordinance Survey to map the reservoir risks for GM and thereby offer a 
significant test of mapping functions. 

• University of Salford to carry out a national pilot to identify how the 
platform can be used to support local responders in the identification of 
vulnerable people during an incident.  
 

7.0 Exercises 
 
7.1 In addition to capturing learning from incidents, GM has maintained a 

strong exercise programme to enable responders to validate plans and 

Page 21



 

 6 

rehearse capabilities, identifying gaps or areas for further work ahead 
of emergencies. 

 
7.2 Exercise Triton 
 In July 2016 the CCRU led the planning and delivery of Exercise Triton 

II, the largest ‘live play’ multi agency exercise delivered in GM to date.  
This built on the flood scenario of Boxing Day 2015, challenging 
commanders to build on learning and assess what they would need to 
do differently should they be faced with a similar scenario.  The 
exercise developed into a fast paced dynamic situation, based on a 
reservoir inundation scenario, designed to stretch decision making 
beyond usual planning assumptions.   

 
 The exercise involved 36 different agencies including blue light 

responders, all ten local authorities, health sector, voluntary sector, 
utilities companies and transport providers; tested 10 different multi-
agency plans; and ran over the course of 4 days with the live play 
taking place over 17 hours.  Overall the exercise provided a unique 
opportunity to test all three levels of command and control and 
challenge emergency responders to collectively respond to protect GM. 
Lessons from the exercise have been built into a review of the GM 
flood plans, GM Generic Response Plan and have led to specific 
pieces of work to strengthen existing procedures. 

  
7.3 Exercise Winchester Accord 
 GM has also used a live play exercise to rehearse the response to a 

terrorist incident. Exercise Winchester Accord was developed around a 
scenario at the Trafford Centre, with exercise play taking place at four 
locations throughout the night. Eleven responding organisations tested 
their response and the exercise comprehensively explored multi-
agency command at a strategic level in addition to exercising counter 
terrorism responses on the ground. 

 
8.0 New or Evolving Risks 
 
8.1 Effective risk assessment remains a cornerstone of emergency 

management and disaster risk reduction. During 2016 GM has 
implemented a revised risk methodology, in line with the national 
framework, strengthening an understanding of risk across all agencies. 

 
8.2 Cyber Resilience 
 The integration of cyber security into the resilience agenda has 

emerged as a key priority during the year. GM is part of a pilot project 
between City of London Corporation, Gloucestershire, Greater 
Manchester and DCLG. The aim of the project is to develop a model of 
civic cyber resilience that can be used by LRF partnerships across the 
country in managing cyber related incidents. 

 
8.3 Anti-Microbial Resistance 

Page 22



 

 7 

 The increasing resistance of bacteria to antibiotics has been identified 
by England’s Chief Medical Officer as the most serious international 
risk to public health after climate change. GM is currently piloting a 
national social marketing campaign to reduce inappropriate antibiotic 
prescribing and has developed a strategy that includes objectives to 
improve infection prevention and control measures especially in 
relation to urinary tract infections. GM will also seek opportunities 
available through the 100 Resilient Cities Network to meet the 7th 
national AMR strategy objective to ‘strengthen international 
collaboration’. 

 
9.0 Resilience as an Enabler for Economic Growth 
 
9.1 Resilience has attracted international policy attention and is seen as a 

fundamental issue for ensuring inward investment into cities and 
supporting city growth. For the first time, world-wide annual economic 
losses have exceeded $100 billion for five consecutive years and 
global analysis suggests that investors have not paid sufficient 
attention to the exposure of businesses to hazards and the threat this 
represents to profits, competitiveness and sustainability. GM has 
recognised these links and focused work on a number of specific 
projects including embedding resilience considerations in the GM 
Spatial Framework. 

 
9.2 GM is recognised as a global role model for resilience (UNISDR) and is 

engaged in a number of international initiatives and networks. During 
2016 GM’s work was recognised in a number of ways including: 

 
• In May 2016 GM secured membership of the 100 Resilient Cities 

network. 100RC is an organisation dedicated to helping cities around 
the world to become more resilient to the physical, social and economic 
challenges of the 21st century.  This work was the subject of a separate 
paper in 21st July 2016 and work commenced with a highly successful 
and well attended Agenda Setting Workshop in November which 
attracted participation from Miami Beach, Rotterdam, The Hague, 
Belfast and Bristol. 

• In September 2016 Salford Council was awarded an EU grant for a GM 
wide, €1 million project to develop an international city-to-city peer 
review tool. GM will benefit from an international peer review in early 
2018. 

• Inclusion as a global case study in the UN’s first ‘Words into Action’ 
Guide for national and local platforms, one of a series of practical 
handbooks for use by cities around the world to help them implement 
the Sendai Framework. 

• As an example of good practice for resilience funding and governance 
in the European Week of Regions and Cities, a four-day event 
facilitating the exchange of good practice in the field of European 
regional and urban development. 

 
10.0 Conclusion and Recommendations 

Page 23



 

 8 

 
10.1 Throughout 2016 the resilience structures in GM have continued to 

respond to a dynamic and changing risk context. The arrangements 
and mechanisms in place across local authorities and partner agencies 
have been proven to enable effective joint working in complex and 
challenging emergencies. As global and urban risks continue to evolve, 
GM is part of international and national networks that enable us to 
learn from experts facing similar challenges, whilst also sharing our 
expertise and good practice.   

 
10.2 It is recommended that the Police and Crime Steering Group note: 
 

1. the lessons identified in relation to the response to a range of incidents  
2. the opportunities presented by membership of 100 Resilient Cities 

network  
3. the wider contribution resilience can make to urban growth, economic 

investment and community wellbeing 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018

Standing Items for Every Meeting:-

 Presentation(s) from partner organisation or agency;
 Locality Plan/Integration Update;
 Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board Minutes (where available);

Meeting One – Date, tbc

Theme – Starting Well

Presentations:-
 Schools – contribution to health and wellbeing;
 Pennine Care (Health Visitors/School Nurses) – opportunities, challenges, working within new Agenda;

Agenda Items:-
 Children and Young Persons Partnership Update;
 Childhood Obesity Action Plan;
 Under 5’s Oral Health Update;
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMHS);
 Greater Manchester Early Years Strategy;

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 10



Meeting Two – Date, tbc

Theme – Living Well

Presentations:- 
 Link4Life/Big Life – new service provider update;
 Pennine Care – mental health strategy;

Agenda Items:-
 Diabetes Prevention Programme;
 Greater Manchester Mental Health Strategy;
 Alcohol Strategy;
 Tobacco Control in Pregnancy;

Meeting Three – Date, tbc

Theme – Aging Well

Presentations:-
 tbc

Agenda Items
 Falls Prevention;
 Malnutrition;
 Loneliness and Social Isolation;
 Dementia;
 Work and Health;

P
age 26



Meeting Four – Date, tbc

Theme – System Reform

Presentations:-
 tbc

Agenda Items:-
 Voluntary Sector Reform;
 Greater Manchester Primary Care;
 Greater Manchester Stronger Together;
 Greater Manchester Growth and Reform;

Meeting Five – Date, tbc

Theme – All Age 

Presentations:-
 tbc

Agenda Items
 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment;
 Suicide Prevention Strategy;
 JSNA Update;
 Public Health Annual Report;

P
age 27



Meeting Six – Date, tbc

Theme – Wider Determinants

Presentations:-
 tbc

Agenda Items:-
 Greater Manchester Transport Plan;
 Safer Communities Update;
 Greater Manchester Police Update;
 Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service Update;

Meeting Seven – Date, tbc  - Health and Wellbeing Assembly

 Items to be scheduled:-

Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 

Safeguarding Children Annual Report

P
age 28


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board
	8 Oral Health Improvement Strategy Study Group
	9 Greater Manchester Civil Resilience Arrangements 2016
	10 Health and Wellbeing Board - Draft Work Programme 2017/18

